Resolving phase transitions with discontinuous Galerkin methods

Eduardo Grossi and Nicolas Wink

Institut für Theoretische Physik, Universität Heidelberg, Philosophenweg 16, 69120 Heidelberg, Germany

Abstract

We demonstrate the applicability and advantages of Discontinuous Galerkin (DG) schemes in the context of the Functional Renormalization Group (fRG). We investigate the O(N)-model in the large N limit. It is shown that the flow equation for the effective potential can be cast into a conservative form. We discuss results for the Riemann problem, as well as initial conditions leading to a first and second order phase transition. In particular, we unravel the mechanism underlying first order phase transitions, based on the formation of a shock in the derivative of the effective potential.

Copyright E. Grossi and N. Wink.Received 24-04-2019This work is licensed under the Creative CommonsAccepted 28-08-2023Attribution 4.0 International License.Published 25-10-2023Published by the SciPost Foundation.doi:10.21468/SciPostPhysCore.6.4.071

Contents

1	Introduction			2
	1.1	The fu	inctional renormalization group	3
	1.2	Discor	ntinuous Galerkin methods	4
2	O(N)-model			
	2.1	Flow e	equations	7
	2.2	Nume	rical treatment	8
3	Results			
	3.1	Riemann problem		9
		3.1.1	Analytic investigation	9
		3.1.2	Numerical investigation	10
	3.2	Secon	d order phase transition	11
		3.2.1	Phase structure	12
		3.2.2	Propagation of information and approach to convexity	13
		3.2.3	Convergence	16
	3.3	16		
		3.3.1	Phase structure I	17
		3.3.2	Mechanism for a first order phase transition	18
		3.3.3	Phase structure II	19
		3.3.4	Generalization of the mechanism to other theories	20
4	Con	clusion	and Outlook	21

A	Local approximation		
B	Method of characteristics		
С	Shock propagation and detection	24	
	C.1 Position of the shock	24	
	C.2 Shock detection	25	
Re	eferences	26	

1 Introduction

The coherent description of strongly correlated quantum systems is one of the great challenges of modern theoretical physics. While great progress has been achieved in the last decades, theories like the Hubbard model or QCD still provide many challenges to overcome, due to their strongly correlated nature. Different methods usually have different strengths and complement each other. Functional Methods are excellent at uncovering physical mechanisms and relevant degrees of freedom. In particular, the Functional Renormalization Group (fRG), introduced in [1–3], provides a very powerful tool to investigate the phase structure in strongly correlated theories, ranging from condensed matter systems to quantum gravity. Truncations of the underlying functional partial differential equation within this framework usually result in system of convection-diffusion equations. Despite their successful investigation in a tremendous amount of theories, their numerical treatment with non-analytic solutions has so far not been studied in detail. In turns out that this situation is relevant in the vicinity of a first order phase transition, which demands the usage of suitable numerical tools. The leading order equations within such truncations governing the Renormalization Group (RG) evolution can be cast into a conservative form, which is very similar, in some aspects, to the equations studied in hydrodynamics and in general, mathematical physics. This already suggests the use of suitable numerical techniques, incorporating e.g. the directed flow of information.

Equations of this type generally lead to the formation of a discontinuity in the solution. Therefore, the applied numerical scheme has to be able to handle non-analyticities appropriately. A standard and robust choice is the Finite Volume (FV) scheme, where the equations are solved in a collection of small volumes. Schemes of this type are capable of treating discontinuities in a stable manner. However, they are lacking in accuracy, since it is challenging to adopt higher order formulations while preserving numerical stability. On the other hand, Pseudo-Spectral methods are designed to have an arbitrarily high order accuracy, since the solution is obtained in a functional space spanned by a suitable basis. However, non-analyticities in the solution usually lead to spurious oscillations, which may ruin the stability of the scheme. Discontinuous Galerkin (DG), introduced in [4–8], schemes utilize the strengths of both methods. The domain is decomposed in small volumes; therefore, discontinuities are well treated, and the solution is approximated locally within an appropriate basis to achieve high accuracy. The demand for high accuracy in fRG calculations, combined with the convection dominated nature of the equations, makes DG schemes a natural choice.

Here, we present the application of Discontinuous Galerkin methods to the O(N)-model for $N \gg 1$, within the fRG framework. The paper is organized as follows: To close the gap between the fRG as well as the DG community, and languages therein, we introduce both fields in Section 1.1 and Section 1.2, respectively. In Section 2 the O(N)-model in the large



Figure 1: Graphical representation of the Wetterich equation (1). The line represents the full, regularized propagator G_k , while the crossed circle denotes the regulator derivative insertion $\partial_t R_k$, with respect to the RG-time $t = -\ln(\frac{k}{\lambda})$.

N limit and the applications of DG methods to the flow equation of the effective potential are discussed. Numerical results are presented in Section 3, starting with the associated Riemann problem in Section 3.1. Initial conditions quartic in the field, leading to a second order phase transition, are presented and compared to results from the method of characteristics in Section 3.2. Increasing the order of the potential in the initial conditions allows for a first order phase transition, which is discussed in Section 3.3. Finally, we close with conclusions and future perspectives in Section 4.

1.1 The functional renormalization group

Here we give a very brief introduction to the fRG, which should be sufficient to outline the underlying basic ideas, more complete introductions/reviews can be found in e.g. [9–11].

The fRG implements the idea of Wilsonian renormalization, while providing a suitable regularization of the underlying Quantum Field Theory (QFT). This results in an exact equation (1) for the effective average action $\Gamma_k[\Phi]$, where Φ is a vector collecting all quantum fields of the theory under investigation. The effective average action $\Gamma_k[\Phi]$ is the generator of One-Particle Irreducible (1PI) correlation functions, where all fluctuations up to momentum scale $p^2 \sim k^2$ have been taken into account. In the fRG momentum shells are integrated out around the momentum scale k and is described by [1],

$$\partial_k \Gamma_k[\Phi] = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ \left(\frac{1}{\Gamma_k^{(2)}[\Phi] + R_k} \right)_{ij} (\partial_k R_k)_{ij} \right\},\tag{1}$$

where the trace integrates over momenta and internal spaces, such as color space for a gauge theory. R_k is the regulator that acts as like a mass and therefore regularizes the effective propagator $G_k = \left(\Gamma_k^{(2)}[\Phi] + R_k\right)_{ij}^{-1}$. The indices describe the different field and have to be summed over. Finally, the scale derivative of the regulator $\partial_k R_k$ acts as a UV-cutoff and renders the theory UV finite.

In this manner, (1) interpolates between the classical action $\Gamma_k[\Phi] \to S[\Phi]$ for $k \to \infty$ and the full quantum effective action $\Gamma_k[\Phi] \to \Gamma[\Phi]$ for $k \to 0$, which is the generating functional for all correlation functions of the quantum theory and therefore its solution. It is convenient to work with a dimensionless RG-time

$$t = -\ln\left(\frac{k}{\Lambda}\right),\tag{2}$$

which also captures the natural scaling of dimensionless couplings. In (2) we have included an additional minus sign compared to most fRG related works, to have a positive RG-time evolution. The reference scale Λ is also usually used to as initial scale for (1), where one assumes that the classical theory describes the underlying theory sufficiently well, for more details on this and the related issue of RG consistency, see e.g. [12]. Equation (1), and related flow equations, are often depicted graphically, the representation of (1) is shown in Figure 1.

Finding suitable truncations, i.e. an ansatz for the effective average action $\Gamma_k[\Phi]$, is not an easy task and usually one has to follow physical intuition, taking correlations functions of the relevant degrees of freedom into account. This corresponds to an expansion of correlation functions in field space, as well as momentum space. Truncations that keep dominantly the field dependence, while taking the momentum dependence only to a low order into account, are usually referred to as *derivative expansion*, see e.g. [9, 13–32]. On the other hand, truncations that dominantly resolve the momentum dependence of correlation functions, but quite often also resolve field dependencies, are usually referred to as *vertex expansion*, see e.g. [33–47]. In practice, often a mixed approach must be used to achieve quantitative results, while the qualitative features of the system under investigation can often be captured by rather simple truncations.

In practice, the partial different equation part of the resulting equations for a given ansatz are usually non-linear convection-diffusion equations. During the most part of the flow, these equations are also convection dominated, since (1) is already designed to be dominated by a single scale, set by the RG-time t, in all quantities. We will come back to this point in Section 3.2.2. Additionally, in our application to the O(N)-model in the large N limit, this becomes exact, i.e. it the resulting flow equation is a convection equation, c.f. (6). Moreover, it can be cast into a conservative form, therefore we will restrict the introduction to DG methods in some parts to conservation laws to keep it simple. Having the equation in a conservative form is particularly convenient, since it allows us to understand how a jump discontinuity in the solution forms and propagates.

1.2 Discontinuous Galerkin methods

We review some basic facts about DG schemes following [48], for simplicity we restrict ourselves to one spatial dimension. For an introduction to foundations of numerical methods for PDEs, that DG schemes build upon, e.g. Finite Element and Finite Volume Methods, the reader is referred to [49–51].

The problem is considered over a domain Ω , with boundary $\partial \Omega$, approximated by a computational domain Ω_h , composed by *K* non-overlapping elements D^k

$$\Omega \simeq \Omega_h = \bigcup_{k=1}^K D^k \,. \tag{3}$$

The approximate solution is then represented by

$$u(t,x) \simeq u_h(t,x) = \bigoplus_{k=1}^K u_h^k(t,x).$$
(4)

The local solution is approximated in each element by a polynomial of degree N

$$u_{h}^{k}(t,x) = \sum_{n=1}^{N+1} \hat{u}_{n}^{k}(t)\psi_{n}(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{N+1} u_{h}^{k}(t,x_{i}^{k})l_{i}^{k}(x),$$
(5)

where the first version is the modal expansion, expressing the solution in terms of a local polynomial basis $\psi_n(x)$. The second approximation in (5) is referred to as nodal expansion, which introduces N + 1 grid points x_i^k and $l_i^k(x)$ is the associated Lagrange polynomial. For

calculations, we use the usual Legendre basis in the modal expansions and the Legendre-Gauss-Lobatto quadrature points as grid points in the nodal expansion. A few more details are given in Appendix A.

The main task at hand is to solve the conservation law, which turns out to be the relevant form of the equation in our application, posed as an initial value problem

$$\partial_t u + \partial_x f(u) = 0, \tag{6}$$

where we assume the flux f to be convex, and it may also depend on the time t. We now require that the residual is orthogonal to the basis function *locally* in each element

$$\int_{D^k} \left(\partial_t u_h^k + \partial_x f_h^k(u_h^k) \right) \psi_n \, \mathrm{d}x = 0 \,, \tag{7}$$

i.e. the space of test functions for which we require the orthogonality of the residual of the equation is chosen to be the same as the function space of the solution approximation. Choosing the test function space and the function space of the solution equal is referred to Galerkin method, hence the name Discontinuous Galerkin methods. Additionally, due to the disconnected nature of the approach, (7) has still more degrees of freedom than equations. To resolve this, we integrate (7) by parts and obtain the locally defined weak formulation

$$\int_{D^k} \left(\left(\partial_t u_h^k \right) \psi_n - f_h^k(u_h^k) \partial_x \psi_n \right) \mathrm{d}x = - \int_{\partial D^k} f^* \cdot \hat{\mathbf{n}} \, \psi_n \, \mathrm{d}x \,, \tag{8}$$

where we have already replaced the flux on the right-hand side with an approximation thereof, the numerical flux f^* , discussed below. In the one dimensional case the element boundary ∂D^k consists of two points and the outward pointing normal vector is $\hat{\mathbf{n}} = \pm 1$. Integrating (8) once more by parts we obtain the strong formulation

$$\int_{D^k} \left(\partial_t u_h^k + \partial_x f_h^k(u_h^k) \right) \psi_n \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\partial D^k} \hat{\mathbf{n}} \cdot \left(f_h^k(u_h^k) - f^* \right) \psi_n \, \mathrm{d}x \,, \tag{9}$$

which we also use throughout this work for all numerical calculations. It is important to stress that the solution is only defined element wise. The value of the flux at the boundary is not necessarily equal to the value of the flux on a boundary node, but depends on the solution of all elements sharing that particular intersection, i.e. two in one dimension. Therefore, the numerical fluxes are define on each intersection and depend non-trivially on the value of the approximate solution on all adjacent elements. Specifying the numerical flux closes the set of equations. For the case of a scalar conservation law one can rely on the results for the choice of numerical fluxes obtained in Finite Volume Methods, where the subject has been studied extensively, see e.g. [48,50]. The main requirements are consistency, i.e. $f^*(u,u) = f(u)$, and monotonicity. We will refrain here from a more detailed discussion on numerical fluxes and rather state that we work with the Local Lax-Friedrichs flux [52] given by

$$f^*(u_h^-, u_h^+) = \{\{f_h(u_h)\}\} + \frac{C}{2}[[u_h]],$$
(10)

where an index – denotes the interior information of the element while an index + denotes the exterior information of the element. The brackets denote the average and jump, respectively

$$\{\{u\}\} = \frac{1}{2} \left(u^{-} + u^{+} \right),$$

[[u]] = $\hat{\mathbf{n}}^{-} u^{-} + \hat{\mathbf{n}}^{+} u^{+}.$ (11)

The constant C in (10) is chosen as the maximal wave speed in a local manner as

$$C \ge \max_{u,t} |\partial_u f(u)|, \qquad (12)$$

which is related to the fastest propagating mode. To be more precise, the numerical flux also ensures the convergence to the correct result in situations where discontinuities are present, i.e. it ensures the convergence to the correct solution. This solution can be interpreted as being fixed by an entropy condition or as the inviscid limit of the equation with an infinitesimal viscosity term.

Additionally, boundary conditions have to be specified for all inflow boundaries, given by $\hat{\mathbf{n}} \cdot (\partial_{\mu} f) < 0$.

Finally, we would like to note that (9) can be written as

$$\mathcal{M}^k \partial_t u_h^k + \mathcal{S}^k f_h^k = \left[l^k(x) (f_h^k - f^*) \right]_{x_l^k}^{x_h^k}, \tag{13}$$

resulting in a fully discretized scheme, where we have introduced the two matrices

$$\mathcal{M}_{ij}^{k} = \int_{D^{k}} l_{i}^{k}(x) l_{j}^{k}(x) \,\mathrm{d}x \,,$$
$$\mathcal{S}_{ij}^{k} = \int_{D^{k}} l_{i}^{k}(x) \partial_{x} l_{j}^{k}(x) \,\mathrm{d}x \,. \tag{14}$$

In the usual manner, the discretized operators (14) are calculated for a reference element and the appropriate mappings to the actual elements invoked.

2 O(N)-model

We consider the O(N) model in *d*-dimensional Euclidean spacetime. The field can be described by a collection of *N* scalar fields $\phi_a(x)$ with $a = 1, \dots, N$. The action for *N* scalar field is

$$S = \int d^d x \left\{ \frac{1}{2} (\partial_\mu \phi_a)^2 + V(\rho) \right\}, \qquad (15)$$

where $V(\rho)$ is the interacting potential. The O(N) symmetry acts on the fields as an orthogonal transformation $\phi_a \rightarrow O_{ab}\phi_b$. Consequently, the O(N)-invariant terms are those constructed by the modulus of the fields $\phi_a \phi_a$. Given this symmetry, the potential is restricted to depend only on O(N)-invariant terms, namely the combination $\rho = \frac{1}{2}\phi_a\phi^a$. This quite simple model can nevertheless describe an immense variety of physical system at different energy scale, from the Higgs sector of the standard model to the phase transition in ferromagnets. The O(N) model is the prototype used to investigate phase transition in different type of systems. For N = 4 and d = 4 the model describes the scalar sector of the standard model (at zero Yukawa couplings). It also captures the essential features of the chiral phase transition in QCD in the limit of two flavors. Moving to lower energy scales, N = 3 corresponds to the Heisenberg model that describes the phase transition of a ferromagnet. In condensed matter, i.e. $d \leq 3$, there are many other applications of the O(N) model, as for example N = 2 can describe the helium superfluid phase transition or N = 1 is the liquid-vapour transition. The motivation for the wide range of applicability of such a simple model comes from the universal behavior of physical systems close to a phase transition; under these circumstances the microscopic details of a system are not important, only a few characteristics like the underlying symmetry govern the physics close to the phase transition.

For this reason, the O(N) model is the perfect prototype to understand relevant mechanisms that govern a phase transition.

2.1 Flow equations

To derive flow equations, we need to truncate the effective action, i.e. we need to choose an ansatz. Here we work in a *derivative expansion*, i.e. we expand the action in terms of gradients of the field. The zeroth order of the expansion is usually referred to as *Local potential approximation* (LPA). For our intended purpose, i.e. $N \gg 1$, this approximation becomes exact [53]. Within LPA the ansatz for the effective action is given by

$$\Gamma_k[\phi] = \int_x \left\{ \frac{1}{2} (\partial_\mu \phi_a)^2 + V(t,\rho) \right\}, \qquad (16)$$

where $V(t, \rho)$ is the effective potential, which depends only on the RG-time as well as the O(N) invariant $\rho = \frac{1}{2}\phi_a\phi^a$. Having specified the ansatz for the effective action, we can derive a PDE for the effective potential by evaluating the right-hand side of (1). This requires the knowledge of the regularized propagator, or equivalently the two-point function

$$\Gamma_{ab}^{(2)}(t,\rho,p) = \left[p^2 + V'(t,\rho)\right]\delta_{ab} + 2\rho V''(t,\rho)\delta_{aN}\delta_{bN}, \qquad (17)$$

where we introduced the shorthand notation $V'(t,\rho) = \partial_{\rho}V(t,\rho)$ and specified the field direction where it can acquire a non-vanishing expectation value. Plugging (17) into (1), using a regulator that's diagonal in field space, and carrying out the trace up to the momentum integral one obtains

$$\partial_t V(t,\rho) = \frac{1}{2} \int_q \left[\left(\frac{N-1}{q^2 + V'(t,\rho) + R_k(q)} + \frac{1}{q^2 + V'(t,\rho) + 2\rho V''(t,\rho) + R_k(q)} \right) \partial_t R_k(q) \right].$$
(18)

As regulator we chose the usual Litim regulator

$$R_k(p) = (k^2 - p^2)\Theta(k^2 - p^2),$$
(19)

which provides the optimal [54] choice in LPA. Additionally, we rescale ρ and $V(t, \rho)$ with factors of 1/N - 1,

$$\rho \to (N-1)\rho, \qquad (20)$$
$$V(t,\rho) \to (N-1)V(t,\rho),$$

which allows for easy access to the large N limit. Putting (18), (19) and (20) together, the integration becomes trivial and we arrive at the flow equation for the effective potential

$$\partial_t V(t,\rho) = -A_d (\Lambda e^{-t})^{d+2} \left(\frac{1}{(\Lambda e^{-t})^2 + V'(t,\rho)} + \frac{1}{N-1} \frac{1}{(\Lambda e^{-t})^2 + V'(t,\rho) + 2\rho V''(t,\rho)} \right),$$
(21)

with $A_d = \Omega_d (2\pi)^{-d}/d$ and $\Omega_d = 2\pi^{d/2} \Gamma(\frac{d}{2})^{-1}$ is the volume of a d-1 dimensional sphere. Please note that Γ denotes only in this context the usual Gamma function. Due to the rescaling (20) it is very easy to go to the limit $N \gg 1$, i.e. we drop the last term in (21)

$$\partial_t V(t,\rho) = -A_d \frac{(\Lambda e^{-t})^{d+2}}{(\Lambda e^{-t})^2 + V'(t,\rho)}.$$
(22)

Before doing calculations we still have to fix the dimension *d* as well as the initial UV-scale Λ in (22). For the dimension we chose d = 3, enabling us to investigate phase transitions of first and second order. The choice of the UV-cutoff is completely arbitrary, and therefore we chose $\Lambda = 1$ a.u.. Where a.u. denotes arbitrary unit, and consequently all dimensionful quantities are rescaled by appropriate powers of Λ to make them dimensionless in a practical manner, but not from an RG perspective. To keep the notation concise, the rescaled quantities are not denoted in a different manner but are understood dimensionless for the remainder of this work. This theory has been studied extensively within the fRG, see e.g. [55–57].

2.2 Numerical treatment

The flow equation (22) is non-linear, since the derivative of the potential with respect to the field expectation value appears on the right-hand side in a non-linear manner. However, for numerical purposes, and to apply DG schemes, it is preferable to formulate the problem in conservative form. As $V(t, \rho)$ is related to the zero-point energy of the underlying QFT, its equation should not depend on itself, as it is already the case in (1), and consequently also in (22). As a direct consequence, the first derivative of the potential is a conserved quantity, in the sense of (6). Therefore, we introduce the derivative of the potential as a new variable

$$u(t,\rho) = \partial_{\rho} V(t,\rho), \qquad (23)$$

as well as the flux

$$f(t,u) = A_d \frac{(\Lambda e^{-t})^{d+2}}{(\Lambda e^{-t})^2 + u}.$$
(24)

Because all derivatives of a solution of a PDE must also satisfy the PDE, we can take a derivative of (22) to obtain an equation for the derivative of the potential u, which is easily expressed in terms of the flux (24)

$$\partial_t u + \partial_o f(t, u) = 0. \tag{25}$$

Therefore, we are left with the task of solving a scalar conservation law with a flux that depends explicitly on the RG-time, allowing us to make immediate use of the spatial discretization presented in Section 1.2. As boundary condition we need to specify the flux at large field values, the inflow boundary. However, in this case it is naturally suppressed for physical initial conditions, c.f. (24). Therefore, we have fixed the flux at the boundary to a flux with the initial derivative of the potential. Additionally, we have verified explicitly that we obtain numerically equivalent results by setting the flux to zero at the boundary. Both cases are therefore sufficiently close to the true boundary conditions, i.e. fixing the flux to the initial conditions at infinite field values. It is noteworthy that the flux (24) is convex for all RG-times. Additionally, we would like to note that the weak formulation has already been used in the context of the fRG in [58].

The time dependence is treated with the method of lines, i.e. we use the usual machinery of ordinary differential equations (ODE). Preferably one uses a suitable explicit scheme in this context as numerical stability can be ensured, when the size of the time steps respects the associated Courant-Friedrichs-Lewy (CFL) condition, see e.g. [48]. The condition states that stability is ensured as long as the physical light cone of the system is contained in the numerical one, see e.g. [51]. Therefore, it is related to the propagation of information and is bounded by the physics of the system, e.g. in relativity it should always be less than the speed of light. However, the equation encountered here is quite peculiar from this point of view, since the characteristic speed of information $\partial_u f$ is not bounded and time dependent. As we will show in section 3.2.2 in the limit $t \rightarrow \infty$ the wave speed generally diverges exponentially fast for a subdomain. Therefore, the time step required by the CFL condition also decreases exponentially fast and becomes infeasible in this region. This can be circumvented using implicit methods, and we resorted to the family of Backward Differentiation Formula (BDF) methods, where we used SUNDIALS [59] through its Mathematica interface [60]. Additionally, we have compared our results for all qualitatively different solutions to a strong stability persevering scheme Runge-Kutta scheme [61], with a time step chosen through the CFL condition.

The numerical schemes outlined here are generally applicable, in particular also to future applications in relativistic hydrodynamics [51, 62–66]. Additionally, the high-performance aspects of DG methods, see e.g. [67–69], are a promising perspective for complex fRG settings, where the computational complexity grows fast.



Figure 2: RG-time evolution of $u(t, \rho)$ for the Riemann problem (32). The dots represent the analytic result of the position of the shock (28) and the boundaries of the rarefaction wave (31). The numerical results were obtained with K = 1500 elements and a local accuracy of order N = 3. The results for the derivative of the potential were post-processed with a minmod limiter.

3 Results

3.1 Riemann problem

The Riemann problem is a well-known problem, usually studied in fluid dynamics, and is designed to understand how discontinuities arises and evolve. It consists of finding the solution to the PDE at hand with piecewise constant initial condition

$$u(0,\rho) = \begin{cases} u_{\rm L}, & \rho \le \xi_0, \\ u_{\rm R}, & \rho > \xi_0, \end{cases}$$
(26)

where we restrict ourselves to the case $u_{L/R} \ge 0$, due to the possibly divergent flux (24) otherwise. For these initial conditions, the solution will either develop a shock or a rarefaction wave, depending on whether the characteristic curves intersect or not, respectively. For our problem at hand, i.e. equation (25) together with the flux (24), information is propagating from large ρ to small ρ , therefore we will have a propagating shock when $u_L > u_R$, and consequently a rarefaction wave when $u_L < u_R$.

3.1.1 Analytic investigation

For the case of a propagating shock the position ξ of it must satisfy the Rankine-Hugoniot condition, see Appendix C for a derivation or e.g. [48],

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\xi(t)}{\mathrm{d}t} = \frac{\llbracket f \rrbracket}{\llbracket u \rrbracket},\tag{27}$$

where the difference bracket is defined in (11). Since the flux (24) does not depend on field space, the solution will trivially stay piecewise constant. From (27) it can immediately be seen that the speed of shock is time dependent and exponentially suppressed for large times, since it is the case for the flux (24), independent of the values of $u_{L/R}$. The differential equation (27) can be solved analytically, where we employ as initial condition $\xi(t = 0) = \xi_0$. The solution of (27) together with (24) in *d* dimensions is

$$\xi(t) = \xi_0 + A_d \frac{\Lambda^d}{d(u_{\rm R} - u_{\rm L})} \bigg[{}_2 \tilde{F}_1 \bigg(\frac{u_{\rm R}}{\Lambda^2} \bigg) - {}_2 \tilde{F}_1 \bigg(\frac{u_{\rm L}}{\Lambda^2} \bigg) - e^{-dt} {}_2 \tilde{F}_1 \bigg(\frac{u_{\rm R}}{\Lambda^2} e^{2t} \bigg) + e^{-dt} {}_2 \tilde{F}_1 \bigg(\frac{u_{\rm L}}{\Lambda^2} e^{2t} \bigg) \bigg],$$
(28)

where $_2\tilde{F}_1(z) = _2F_1(1, -\frac{d}{2}, 1-\frac{d}{2}, -z)$ and $_2F_1$ is the Gaussian or ordinary hypergeometric function. Specifying to d = 3, $\Lambda = 1$ and $u_R = 0$ it is possible to simplify (28) considerably

$$\xi(t) = \xi_0 + \frac{1}{6\pi^2} \left[e^{-t} - 1 + \sqrt{u_{\rm L}} \left(\cot^{-1}(\sqrt{u_{\rm L}}) - \cot^{-1}(e^t \sqrt{u_{\rm L}}) \right) \right].$$
(29)

We have chosen the specific value of $u_R = 0$, because it will be the situation encountered later in the case of a first order phase transition, c.f. Section 3.3. The form (29) gives us access to the infinite RG-time limit

$$\xi_{\infty} \equiv \xi(t \to \infty) = \xi_0 + \frac{\sqrt{u_{\rm L}} \cot^{-1}(\sqrt{u_{\rm L}}) - 1}{6\pi^2}.$$
(30)

Therefore, the shock freezes in at large RG-time, and it does so exponentially fast at late times. Where the latter statement can be seen from the expansion of the \cot^{-1} term in (29).

Having discussed the analytic case of a shock wave, we turn now to the case of a rarefaction wave, i.e. $u_{\rm R} > u_{\rm L}$. From the perspective of the characteristic curves, the one at the left boundary is moving faster than the one on the right boundary. Compared to the previous case, here the characteristics aren't overlapping, but rather there is a lack of characteristics. Nevertheless, the problem admits a unique solution, but unfortunately due to the explicit time dependence of the flux (24), the explicit solution cannot be constructed in the usual manner. The speed of the boundary points $\xi^{\rm B}$ however is directly related to the associated characteristics and therefore their explicit solution is easily constructed

$$\xi_{\rm L/R}^{\rm B}(t) = \xi_0^{\rm B} - \frac{A_d \Lambda^d}{2} \left[\frac{e^{-dt}}{u_{\rm L/R} + (\Lambda e^{-t})^2} - \frac{1}{u_{\rm L/R} + \Lambda^2} - \frac{d(\Lambda e^{-t})^{d-2}}{\Lambda^d (d-2)} {}_2F_1 \left(1, 1 - \frac{d}{2}, 2 - \frac{d}{2}, -\frac{u_{\rm L/R}}{(\Lambda e^{-t})^2} \right) + \frac{d\Lambda^{-2}}{d-2} {}_2F_1 \left(1, 1 - \frac{d}{2}, 2 - \frac{d}{2}, -\frac{u_{\rm L/R}}{\Lambda^2} \right) \right].$$
(31)

Similarly, as for the case of a propagating discontinuity (28), the propagation of the boundaries of the rarefaction wave is also exponentially suppressed and only propagates a finite amount in field space. This can easily be inferred from (31) for d = 3. Since we did not encounter any rarefaction waves during our investigation of first and second order phase transition, c.f. Section 3.3 and Section 3.2, we will refrain from an in-depth discussion at this point.

3.1.2 Numerical investigation

Having discussed the solution of the Riemann problem at length from an analytic point of view in Section 3.1.1, we now turn to its numerical investigation. Here it is convenient to investigate both cases at the same time. To be more precise, we chose as initial conditions

$$u(0,\rho) = \begin{cases} 0.1, & 0 < \rho < 0.02, \\ 0, & 0.02 < \rho < 0.05, \\ 0.1, & \rho > 0.05. \end{cases}$$
(32)

The solution to the initial conditions (32) will evolve a shock in the solution from the jump at $\rho = 0.02$ and a rarefaction wave for the jump at $\rho = 0.05$. Our results are shown in Figure 2. The derivative of the potential $u(t, \rho)$, which is resolved numerically, is shown in Figure 2a



Figure 3: RG-time evolution for the second order problem (33) for $\lambda_2 = -0.1$. The full lines are a semi-analytic result obtained by the method of characteristics, while the hexagon dots are the respective results obtained by a numerical simulation with K = 30 elements and a local accuracy of order N = 5.

and the corresponding effective potential, obtained by integrating, in Figure 2b. We find the expected agreement with the analytic results of Section 3.1.1. For the calculation we used K = 1500 equally sized elements in the domain $0 \le \rho \le 0.08$ with a local interpolation order of N = 3 and evolved up to the RG-time t = 3. This upper RG-time is already relatively close to the infinite RG-time limit, i.e. the position of the shock as well as the rarefaction wave are effectively frozen in. During the RG-time evolution inevitably spurious Gibbs oscillations will form. Here we simply chose to keep them at a minimal level by using a considerable amount of degrees of freedom and post-process the results with a simple minmod limiter, see e.g. [48], but remnants of the oscillations can still be seen in Figure 2a. Nevertheless, it should be noted that the result still maintains it spectral accuracy, see e.g. [70], i.e. point wise convergence can be recovered from the numerical result. This is done partially by integrating the result within our polynomial basis, which removes all oscillations, c.f. Figure 2b, which is obtained from the result without a limiter. However, for future application we will consider the use of a limiter or utilize a shock capturing scheme, since the numerical approximation of the derivative of the potential $u(t,\rho)$ must become positive semidefinite in the large RG-time limit to avoid potential problems due to an artificially divergent flux.

3.2 Second order phase transition

We now turn to the initial conditions usually considered in the context of the O(N)-model, i.e. a quadratic potential in the classical action

$$V_{\Lambda}(\rho) = \lambda_2 \rho + \frac{\lambda_4}{2} \rho^2.$$
(33)

This is the case usually studied in the literature, and it is well known that the classical action (33) leads to a second order phase transition as a function of λ_2 for a given positive λ_4 . As our main interest is the investigation of a second order phase transition, we restrict ourselves here to $\lambda_4 = 1$ for the remainder of the section. Additionally, we could always rescale the fields to have $\lambda_4 = 1$ in this case, since (33) has only two free parameters. Utilizing the method of characteristics, for details see Appendix B, it is easy to see that local minima are shifted during the flow

$$\rho_{\min}(t) = \rho_{\min}(0) - \Lambda^{(d-2)} \frac{A_d}{d-2} \left(1 - e^{(d-2)t} \right), \tag{34}$$

which is independent of the initial conditions. Combining (34) with the initial potential (33), the flow of the effective potential inherits a second order phase transition.



Figure 4: Second order phase transition for the initial conditions (33). The result of the numerical simulation is shown with green squares, the extrapolated result with red triangles and the analytic result by a blue line. A detailed description can be found in the main text.

The RG-time evolution of the effective potential for the case of a finite expectation value, with initial value $\lambda_2 = -0.1$, is shown in Figure 3b. To illustrate the behavior of the individual nodes during the RG-time evolution, we have used only a moderate number of elements, i.e. K = 30, and a local approximation order of N = 5. However, the elements are not equally sized, but here we already utilize one of the strengths of the DG approach and half of the elements are equally distributed in $0 \le \rho \le 0.15$ and the other elements are equally distributed in $0.15 \le \rho \le 1$. This distribution of elements ensures that the outer boundary is at sufficiently large field values and our boundary conditions are satisfied, as discussed in Section 2.2, at very little cost. Please note that in Figure 3b the potential is shown as a function of the expectation value of the field $\phi = \sqrt{2\rho}$. Correspondingly, the derivative of the potential for the same calculation is shown in Figure 3a. The maximal RG-time was chosen to be t = 4, where all qualitative features have emerged, and only minor quantitative changes occur towards the asymptotic limit $t \to \infty$. The full effective potential has to be convex, which translate to a positive definite derivative of the potential $u \ge 0$ in the infinite time limit. This translates to a flat potential in between the minima, see Figure 3b. How this is realized in the current equation under investigation has been discussed at length in the literature, see e.g. [71–73]. Nevertheless, the numerical stability in the flat region of the potential is a noteworthy advantage of the DG approach.

3.2.1 Phase structure

We are now in the position to investigate the phase structure of the theory with classical action (33), where we set $\lambda_4 = 1$, as previously discussed. For all calculations we used K = 120 elements and a local interpolation of order N = 5. As in the previous case, the elements are not equally distributed. We used 5 equally spaced elements in the interval $0 \le \rho \le 0.001$, 15 equally spaced elements in the interval $0.001 \le \rho \le 0.01$, 50 equally spaced elements in the interval $0.15 \le \rho \le 1$. This ensures a good resolution for small field values, and therefore the relevant region in field space at the second order phase transition. The solution is computed up to the RG-time t = 4, however, there is no restriction to continue the numerical simulation to larger RG-times. The result of the simulations is shown in Figure 4 with green squares. The final RG-time was also restricted to demonstrate the easy extrapolability of the result to its asymptotic solution



Figure 5: Error of the solution with initial condition (33) ($\lambda_2 = -0.1$) at RG-time t = 4 computed in the interval $0 \le \rho \le 1$ for different number *K* of equally sized elements and local approximation order *N*. The symbols show the result of the numerical simulations, while the lines show a χ^2 -fit with respect to (39) with the parameters given in Table 2.

at infinite RG-time. For a dimensionful coupling one expects asymptotically an exponential decay

$$\rho_{\min}(t) = \rho_{\min}^{\text{final}} + b \, e^{-ct} \,, \quad \text{for} \quad t \gg 0 \,. \tag{35}$$

We found compatibility of our numerical results for the position of the minima with (35), which is not very surprising as the analytic solution is given in this form (34). Nevertheless, the form of (35) is a generic feature and valid for couplings with a non-trivial RG-time evolution in this theory, this feature will become relevant in Section 3.3. We have extrapolated the global minimum for each coupling with eleven equally spaced points in the RG-time interval $3 \le t \le 4$ according to (35), the result is shown in Figure 4 with blue triangles.

It is very well known that all observables show a power law behavior in the vicinity of a second order phase transition due to the divergent correlation length at the phase transition. This can be parametrized as

$$\langle \phi \rangle = \begin{cases} \alpha \left| \lambda_2 - \lambda_2^{\text{crit}} \right|^{\nu}, & \lambda_2 \le \lambda_2^{\text{crit}}, \\ 0, & \lambda_2 > \lambda_2^{\text{crit}}, \end{cases}$$
(36)

where α is some prefactor, ν is the critical exponent and λ_2^{crit} is the critical coupling. The exact coefficients can be easily obtained analytically and are given in Table 1, as well as being depicted by a blue line in Figure 4.

Additionally, we have extracted the parameters from our results, extrapolated to infinite RG-time, using a χ^2 minimization. The resulting parameters, including their 1σ confidence interval, given in terms of the last two digits, are also shown in Table 1. Despite not aiming for a quantitative resolution of the critical area around the phase transition, we obtain an accurate estimate for all parameters. In particular, the error of the critical value of the coupling is only $1.5 \cdot 10^{-7}$, but it should be noted that the critical properties, i.e. the critical exponent in this case, can also be obtained from the fixed point equations, where higher accuracy is easier achievable, see e.g. [27].

3.2.2 Propagation of information and approach to convexity

It is instructive to have a closer look at the spreading of waves, or to put it differently, the propagation of information during the RG-time evolution. Propagating modes correspond to



Figure 6: Properties relating to the approach towards convexity for the initial values (33) with $\lambda_2 = -0.1$. The vertical dashed lines represent the position of the global minimum of the potential at the corresponding RG-time. The numerical simulation was performed with K = 85 elements and a local accuracy of order N = 5.

eigenvalues of the Jacobian of the system of conservation laws, which reduces in our case to $|\partial_u f(u)|$. The direction is always given to smaller field values, which naturally corresponds to the evolution direction from an RG perspective. Therefore, this quantity tells us at least qualitatively something about the locality of the RG-evolution in field space. From a technical perspective, the wave speed is an important quantity in our choice of the numerical flux, as it is directly related to the propagation of discontinuities. Additionally, it is relevant for the maximally allowed time step in explicit schemes to guarantee stability, see e.g. [48].

Turning back to our example case at the beginning of the section, i.e. (33) with $\lambda_2 = -0.1$ and $\lambda_4 = 1$, where we have used a local approximation of order N = 5 with 60 elements in the interval $0 \le \rho \le 0.15$ and 25 elements in the interval $0.15 \le \rho \le 1$. The locally resolved wave speed for different RG-times is shown in Figure 6a on a logarithmic scale. To guide the eye, the current minimum at each RG-time is indicated by a vertical dashed line. It is apparent that with progressing RG-time the wave speed splits into two domains, depending on the field value. For field values larger than the minimum, the wave speed is decreasing rapidly, i.e. it is decreasing exponentially fast. On the other hand, for field values smaller than the minimum, i.e. in the flat region of the potential, the wave speed is growing exponentially. A direct consequence is that explicit time steppers work extremely well in the non-flat region, because the time steps can be chosen increasingly larger as RG-time progresses, while in the flat region the time steps would be exponentially smaller and implicit methods are preferred. This comes

Table 1: Exact and reconstructed parameters of the power law behaviour (36) in the vicinity of the second order phase transition shown in Figure 4. The brackets indicate the 1σ uncertainty of the χ^2 -fit and the exact result is also given with numerical values for better comparability.

	Parameter		
	Prefactor	Critical exponent	Critical coupling
	α	ν	$-\lambda_2^{ ext{crit}}$
Evact regult	$\sqrt{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	$(6\pi^2)^{-1}$
Exact result	1.4142	0.50000	0.01688686
χ^2 -fit	1.4161(16)	0.50023(25)	0.01688684(15)



Figure 7: First order phase transition for the initial conditions (40). An extensive description can be found in the main text. The numerical simulation was performed with K = 200 elements and a local accuracy of order N = 5.

with implications for Taylor series methods, which are a popular choice in the fRG community, see e.g. [21, 23, 25], i.e. it provides an a posteriori justification for its use away from the flat region, due to the exponentially increasing locality of the solution. However, this should not be used as an a priori justification of its use. Similarly, Finite Difference based methods, see e.g. [9, 13, 14, 16–19, 26], will benefit from taking these considerations, especially the direction of the wave propagation, into account. Additionally, we would like to note that this analysis does not replace a proper stability analysis for these approaches, but simply provides an intuitive understanding with non-binding consequences.

As outlined previously, the separation of the solution at infinite RG-time into two regimes is closely linked to the flatness of the potential, i.e. its convexity. This also implies the vanishing of higher order couplings in the flat region. Therefore, the curvature

$$\kappa(\rho) = 2\rho V''(\rho) = 2\rho u'(\rho), \qquad (37)$$

provides a good measure for the flatness of the potential. The full curvature mass of the radial mode in O(N)-models is given by

1

$$n_{\rm curv}^2 = u(\rho) + \kappa(\rho), \qquad (38)$$

more details can be found in Section 2. Therefore, a vanishing curvature (37) implies a vanishing curvature mass (38) of the radial mode in the flat region. The result for the curvature, in the same setting as the wave speed, is shown in Figure 6b. As for the wave speed, the minima at the shown RG-times are indicated by vertical dashed lines to guide the eye. The approach towards zero of the curvature in the flat region is clearly visible, similarly to the jump discontinuity that necessarily forms at the minimum. However, this discontinuity forms, just like the non-analytic point in the derivative of the potential itself, only in the asymptotic limit. Additionally, these findings are promising for future calculations in the O(N)-model at finite N, since the calculation of the curvature does not introduce new problems and is the only new ingredient entering at finite N. Within this setting we also do not expect a loss of accuracy despite the increasingly non-analytic behavior of the derivative. This is a clear advantage over pseudo-spectral methods, which are also designed to achieve high accuracy, put forward in [27–29]. They perform extremely well, if the solution is sufficiently smooth, however this is inherently not the case near phase transitions in the fRG. Additionally, it is worthwhile noting that these properties make pseudo-spectral approximation a good choice for the approximation of the momentum dependence of correlation function in Euclidean spacetime, see e.g. [74,75]

3.2.3 Convergence

Due to the semi-analytic nature of the solution using the method of characteristics, c.f. Appendix B, we can benchmark the accuracy of our results obtained with the DG method. As with previous studies, we use the initial conditions (33) together with $\lambda_2 = -0.1$ and resolve the derivative of the effective potential over the interval $0 \le \rho \le 1$. The results are then compared at the RG-time t = 4. Hereby, we assume the result obtained via the method of characteristics to be the exact solution. Please note that this makes such a comparison for the situation with shocks considerably more complicated, which is why we refrain from considering it here. As explained in Section 2.2, we use an implicit solver for the time evolution. To avoid artificial enhancement of errors due to uncertainties thereof, we set the adaptive accuracy requirements close to machine precision. The results for the broken L2-norm between the two solutions for different orders of the local approximation order as a function of the number of elements, which are all equal in size, are shown in Figure 5. For our highest order of approximation N = 5 the results are only included for $K \leq 500$ elements, because the difference between the two results is at the level of the machine precision for more elements and a comparison is no longer insightful. The results are compatible with the expected power law like behavior for the convergence when increasing the number of elements K and an exponential convergence when increasing the local approximation order N. To be more precise, we observe a behavior that can be parametrized as

$$\log_{10} ||u_h - u_{\text{exact}}||_{\Omega,h} = (a_1 + a_2 N) - (b_1 + b_2 N) \log_{10}(K).$$
(39)

In (39) we have temporarily restored the index *h* again to denote the approximate solution. A χ^2 -fit to (39) is also shown in Figure 5 as solid lines, the parameters obtained are given in Table 2. In (39) the norm on the left-hand side denotes the broken L2-norm, i.e. the exact solution is projected to the same polynomial space as the numerical solution and the norm is then calculated elementwise therein and summed up. This result demonstrates the impressive convergence properties of the scheme.

3.3 First order phase transition

We now turn to the investigation of first order phase transitions, which have been investigated within the fRG in e.g. [9,24,58,76–80]. Including a $(\phi_a \phi^a)^3$ coupling into the classical action enables us to access a first order phase transition, see e.g. [56], which translates to the initial conditions

$$V_{\Lambda}(\rho) = \lambda_2 \rho + \frac{\lambda_4}{2} \rho^2 + \frac{\lambda_6}{3} \rho^3.$$
(40)

Similarly, to the second order case, c.f. Section 3.2, we fix all but one parameter and investigate the phase structure with respect to that parameter. To achieve a first order phase transition λ_2 and λ_6 need to be positive, while λ_4 needs to be negative. The initial values are chosen to

Table 2: Parameters obtained from a χ^2 -fit to (39) of the convergence behavior shown in Figure 5.

	Parameter			
	<i>a</i> ₁	<i>a</i> ₂	b_1	b_2
χ^2 -fit	-6.0(10)	2.22(31)	1.36(40)	1.34(12)



(c) Derivative of the potential in the symmetric phase.

(d) Derivative of the potential in the broken phase.

Figure 8: The effective potential $V(t, \rho)$ and its derivative $u(t, \rho)$ for two different values of the coupling λ_4 close to the first order phase transition shown in Figure 7. The numerical simulation was performed with K = 200 elements and a local accuracy of order N = 5. The results for the derivative of the potential were post-processed with a WENO limiter.

produce similar scales in the result compared to the results obtained in Section 3.2. Therefore, we keep λ_4 variable and set $\lambda_2 = 0.0024$, $\lambda_6 = 1$ to fixed values. Throughout this section we use K = 200 elements with a local approximation order of N = 5, with 150 elements distributed equally in $0 \le \rho \le 0.15$ and 50 elements distributed equally in $0.15 \le \rho \le 1$. The solution is obtained up to the RG-time t = 6, which was sufficiently large for all numerical simulations, i.e. the asymptotic result at infinite RG-time was obtainable via extrapolation if necessary.

A crucial difference between the initial conditions (33) and (40) concerns the monotonicity of the derivative of the effective potential at the initial scale, i.e. $u(0, \rho)$. While for the second order phase transition $u(0, \rho)$ was monotonically increasing as a function of ρ , in the case considered now, i.e. (40), it is not. To be more precise, it possesses a minimum for certain values of $\lambda_4 < 0$ and therefore a jump discontinuity will form as RG-time progresses. The underlying mechanism can easily be understood from the perspective of the characteristic velocity $\partial_u f(t, u)$, more details can be found in Section 3.1 and Appendix C. However, it is not clear whether the discontinuity forms in the physical relevant regime $\rho \in [0, \infty)$. Additionally, the results from Section 3.1 let us suspect that the shock will freeze in towards asymptotic RGtimes. It turns out that this indeed happens and is the relevant mechanism behind the phase transition.

3.3.1 Phase structure I

We investigate the phase structure for the initial conditions (40), with the specific setup discussed around the equation. The resulting phase structure is shown in Figure 7, where a wider

range for the external parameter λ_4 is shown in Figure 7a and the vicinity around the phase transition is shown in Figure 7b. All quantities in the visualization of the phase structure are extrapolated to $t \rightarrow \infty$, the minima according to (35) and the final position of a possible jump discontinuity, i.e. shocks, is described later in detail. The outer minimum is depicted with green squares and the disappearance/jump to zero of it reflects the disappearance of the minimum in the initial conditions. However, the global minimum, depicted with red triangles, of the effective potential is either at $\rho = 0$ or agrees with the non-trivial, outer minimum at $\rho \ge 0$. A clear jump is visible where the potential switches between the symmetric and broken phase and the position is shown with a vertical orange line.

Before continuing the discussion of the phase structure and, in particular, the discussion of Figure 7b, it is instructive to look at the potential and its derivative at the two values of the coupling λ_4 which are closest to the phase transition, i.e. once in the broken phase and once in the symmetric phase, shown in Figure 8. Hereby we note that the results shown for the RG-time t = 6 are already sufficiently close to the infinite RG-time limit and for all discussions that follow we can treat them effectively as such. Focusing on the derivative of the effective potential $u(t, \rho)$, in both cases the appearance of a jump discontinuity is clearly visible. For a better depiction we have processed the result using a WENO limiter, following [81], removing the Gibbs oscillations around the shock. This is the origin of the flat looking pieces in the solution at the positions of shocks. However, the potential is obtained, as in Section 3.1, from the original data of the result. The two evolutions of the derivative of the potential, depicted in Figure 8c and Figure 8d, show a qualitative difference. In Figure 8c the position of the shock freezes and consequently the global minimum of the effective potential stays at $\rho = 0$ for all RG-times, see Figure 8a. This is in contradiction to the case depicted in Figure 8d, here the position of the shock moves to unphysical values and effectively flattens out the potential for all field values smaller than the outer minimum, making it the global minimum, depicted in Figure 8b.

3.3.2 Mechanism for a first order phase transition

The analysis above uncovers a potential mechanism for first order phase transitions: In the vicinity of the phase transition a cusp forms in the effective potential, or equivalently a shock in the derivative of the potential, during the RG-time evolution between two minima. The shock now propagates towards smaller field values and if the inner minimum was the preferred one before, the phase transition happens if the shock hits the inner minimum. The final position of the shock $\xi(t \to \infty)$ as a function of some external parameter, e.g. a coupling in the classical potential, temperature or chemical potential, can now be used to describe the phase transition equivalently. The propagation speed of the shock is dominantly driven by the values of the derivative of the potential at larger field values, c.f. (27). However, at roughly the same RG-time when the shock forms, the potential also starts to flatten, starting from the outer minimum, i.e. the potential approaches convexity. This process is triggered locally from the existence of a zero crossing in the derivative of the potential, and therefore independent of the global structure of the potential. Consequently, the propagation of the shock is dominantly driven by auxiliary, massless modes of the flat region and becomes at least partially insensitive to the details of the theory. This mechanism suggests a power law like behavior of the final position of the shock in the vicinity of the phase transition, which we will confirm for our current setting.

In our present case of the theory in the large *N* limit, the formation of shock is guaranteed due to conservative form equation (25), combined with the non-monotonicity of the initial state. Therefore, the inner minimum is at $\rho = 0$ and the condition for the phase transition turn into $\xi(t \to \infty) = 0$.



Figure 9: Positions of the shocks for the examples shown in Figure 8 together with the fit of the asymptotic behavior for the case shown Figure 8c.

Obviously, one should be cautious whether this mechanism generalizes to first order phase transitions in generic theories. We will comment on this at the end of this section, after finishing the discussion of the phase structure in our current setting. However, before continuing we would like to note that the propagation of a discontinuity in the vicinity of a first order phase transition has also been seen in [58], where the method of characteristics was used to resolve the phase structure of an NJL type model.

3.3.3 Phase structure II

Having identified the relevant mechanism for the phase transition shown in Figure 7, we can turn back to its description, including the final position of the shock, which are displayed with purple pentagons. It is now obvious that we get a good description of the phase structure in terms of the final position of the shock. To obtain the position of the discontinuity at infinite RG-time we follow the logic presented in Section 3.2, i.e. at large RG-times we expect an exponential decay

$$\xi(t) = \xi_{\text{final}} + a_{\xi} e^{-b_{\xi} t}, \quad \text{for} \quad t \gg 0.$$
(41)

This expectation is also supported by the asymptotic behavior extracted analytically from the Riemann problem, c.f. Section 3.1.1. To apply (41) we have extracted the position of the shock at 11 equally spaced points between the RG-times t = 5 and t = 6 using an appropriate concentration kernel, c.f. Appendix C, and then extracted the relevant information using a χ^2 -fit. The trajectories of the shocks from the evolutions shown in Figure 8 are depicted in Figure 9, which justifies the use of (41). Additionally, it should be noted that the trajectory with a finite final position of the shock shown in Figure 9 is the most extreme cases present, i.e. the exponential decay started at earlier RG-times for other values of the coupling with $\xi_{\text{final}} > 0$.

Following the discussion presented in Section 3.3.2, we expect a power law like behavior for the final position of the shock as a function of the coupling

$$\xi_{\text{final}} = \begin{cases} \beta \left| \lambda_4 - \lambda_4^{\text{crit}} \right|^{\zeta}, & \lambda_4 \ge \lambda_4^{\text{crit}}, \\ 0, & \lambda_4 < \lambda_4^{\text{crit}}. \end{cases}$$
(42)

Indeed, we find a very good agreement between the final positions of the shock and (42), the coefficients obtained from a χ^2 -fit are collected in Table 3. As for the second order phase transition, we obtain a very accurate estimate for the critical coupling, also shown with an orange circle in Figure 7. The critical exponent comes out at $\zeta = 0.683 \pm 0.013$ and it will be very interesting to investigate whether this value can be obtained from an associated fixed

point potential, which necessarily is either a partial fixed point or discontinuous, for a full study of the fixed points within this theory looking for continuous solutions see [82,83]. Non-analytic fixed point potentials have been found very recently [84] and it will be very interesting to explore the relation of our results to the ones presented therein, since the results share some qualitative features.

3.3.4 Generalization of the mechanism to other theories

It seems rather plausible that the mechanism outlined in Section 3.3.2 persists in general, at least to some extent. The first obvious generalization is to go beyond large N and look at the flow equation (21) for finite N. Staying close to the conservative formulation employed so far, c.f. (25), we can express the flux for finite N by inclusion of a diffusion term

$$f(t, u, \kappa) = f_{\text{Conv}}(t, u) + f_{\text{Diff}}(t, u, \kappa),$$
(43)

where the diffusion term depends additionally on the curvature defined in (37). DG schemes for diffusion terms are a well studied subject, see e.g. [85–87]. The first term on the right-hand side in (43) is the flux used in the large N limit (24) and the additional term contains the contribution of the radial mode

$$f_{\rm Diff}(t, u, \kappa) = -\frac{A_d}{N-1} \frac{(\Lambda e^{-t})^{d+2}}{(\Lambda e^{-t})^2 + u + \kappa}.$$
(44)

From a practical perspective (44) is a diffusion term, hence it has the possibility to smear out potential shocks. Away from any potential shocks this equation is still convection dominated, since the curvature appearing in the denominator is comparatively small. However, at field values around the shock it might give a sizeable contribution. However, in close proximity of the phase transition, i.e. when the shock, or a slightly smeared shock, approaches zero, it becomes important that (44) only depends on the curvature, which vanishes exactly at vanishing field value. Due to this reason, we expect a shock to be present in the direct vicinity of the phase transition. This marks a special regime at a first order phase transition, like the scaling regime at a second order phase transition. How this plays out in detail, especially in combination with the approach to convexity, will be extremely interesting to pursue in the near future. Particularly, the Péclet number, i.e. the convection over diffusion rate, might be a good start to quantify the competition between the different terms in (44).

Similarly, the presence of Fermions amounts to an additional source term in (43) in LPA. This potentially spoils the outlined mechanism in a trivial manner within this truncation. In this situation the phase transition is not fluctuation induced, but simply present due to the mean-field fermionic determinant, and an investigation should involve at least a field dependent Yukawa coupling to have the field dependent masses of fermions and bosons on the same footing. The field dependence of the Yukawa coupling in such theories was partially investigated in [88–92].

Table 3: Parameters obtained from a χ^2 -fit to (42) of the positions of the shocks depicted in Figure 7.

	Parameter		
	Prefactor	Critical exponent	Critical coupling
	β	ζ	$-\lambda_4^{ m crit}$
χ^2 -fit	6.57(45)	0.683(13)	0.104438(28)

Additionally, whether this mechanism can be used to extract properties of a first order phase transitions such as the nucleation rate in a convenient manner will be interesting to pursue.

4 Conclusion and Outlook

In this work, we have presented the applicability and advantages of applying Discontinuous Galerkin methods to the flow equations arising within the Functional Renormalization Group. As application, we considered the O(N)-model in the large N limit in the Local Potential Approximation, where the flow equation of the effective potential can be cast into a conservative form, Section 2.2, which allows for a straightforward application of DG schemes. We considered the associated Riemann problem, as well as initial conditions that lead to a first or second order phase transition. The Riemann problem is considered in Section 3.1. It mainly led to the conclusion that shocks propagate only a finite range in field space. Therefore, they are still present in the solution at asymptotically large RG-times.

The case of a second order phase transition is presented in Section 3.2. We reproduced well known results from the literature and demonstrated in addition the expected convergence behavior of the scheme. The underlying stability and convergence properties also hold in the flat region of the potential, which contrasts with methods that rely on the smoothness of the solution, c.f. Section 3.2.2.

Initial conditions that lead to a first order phase transition are studied in Section 3.3. We discovered the formation of a shock in the derivative of the potential, leading to the mechanism behind first order phase transitions, explained in Section 3.3.2. This leads to an additional description of the phase structure in terms of the shock. In the vicinity of the phase transition, the position of the shock shows a power law behavior, like the order parameter in a second order phase transition.

These very promising results are the starting point for exciting follow-up projects. One part consists of investigating the mechanism for first order phase transitions further and establishing it in general. This also includes making a connection to the usual observables considered at such a phase transition. On the other hand, applying DG schemes to the PDE part of fRG equations is a promising route for reliable, precision calculations. Our results represent a very important step towards understanding the phase structure of strongly correlated systems such as QCD or the Hubbard model.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Peter Bastian, Luca Del Zanna, Bernd-Jochen Schaefer for discussions and in particular Stefan Floerchinger and Jan M. Pawlowski for discussions and work on related topics.

Funding information This work is supported by the BMBF grant 05P18VHFCA, and is part of and supported by the DFG Collaborative Research Centre SFB 1225 (ISOQUANT).

A Local approximation

In Section 1.2 we have introduced a dual expansion basis: $\psi_n(x)$ for the modes and $l_i^k(x)$ for the nodes, c.f. (5). The simplest, practical choice for the mode basis $\psi_n(x)$ is the set of

orthogonal Legendre polynomials P_n , which are part of the large family of Jacobi polynomials $P^{(\alpha,\beta)}$.

The Jacobi polynomials $P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)$ are the solution to the singular Sturm-Liouville problem

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x}\left[(1-x^2)\omega(x)\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x}P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)\right] = -\lambda_n\omega(x)P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x),\tag{A.1}$$

defined on the interval [-1,1]. In (A.1) $\omega(x) = (1-x)^{\alpha}(1+x)^{\beta}$ is the weight function and $\lambda_n = n(n + \alpha + \beta + 1)$ are the eigenvalues. The Jacobi polynomials satisfy the weighted orthonormality relation

$$\int_{-1}^{1} \mathrm{d}x \; \omega(x) P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) P_m^{(\alpha,\beta)} = \delta_{nm} \,. \tag{A.2}$$

To construct the polynomials, it is convenient to use their recurrence relation, see e.g. [48], which relates the higher order P_n to the lower ones,

$$xP_{n}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = a_{n}P_{n-1}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) + b_{n}P_{n}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) + a_{n+1}P_{n-1}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x),$$
(A.3)

where the coefficients are defined as

$$a_n = \frac{2}{2n+\alpha+\beta} \sqrt{\frac{n(n+\alpha+\beta)(n+\alpha)(n+\beta)}{(2n+\alpha+\beta-1)(2n+\alpha+\beta+1)}},$$

$$b_n = -\frac{\alpha^2 - \beta^2}{(2n+\alpha+\beta)(2n+\alpha+\beta+2)}.$$
(A.4)

The recurrence relation can be used once the initial polynomials are defined,

$$P_0^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = \sqrt{2^{-\alpha-\beta-1} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+\beta+2)}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)(\beta+1)}},$$

$$P_1^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = \frac{1}{2} P_0^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) \sqrt{\frac{\alpha+\beta+3}{(\alpha+1)(\beta+1)}} \left[(\alpha+\beta+2)x + (\alpha-\beta) \right]$$

Derivatives can be computed from the lower order polynomials using the important relation

$$\frac{d}{dx}P_{n}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = \sqrt{n(n+\alpha+\beta+1)}P_{n-1}^{(\alpha+1,\beta+1)}(x).$$
(A.5)

The Legendre polynomials are the special case $\alpha = \beta = 0$, i.e. $P_n(x) = P_n^{(0,0)}$ and their properties and relations are easily obtained from the ones for the Jacobi polynomial.

In our implementation of the DG discretization method, we used the following convention for $\psi_n(x)$

$$\psi_n(x) = \sqrt{\frac{2n-1}{2}} P_{n-1}(x).$$
(A.6)

The nodal basis functions are chosen as the standard Lagrange interpolating polynomials,

$$l_i(x) = \prod_{j=1 \ j \neq i} \frac{x - x_j}{x_j - x_i},$$
(A.7)

which are well define and unique if the nodes x_i are all distinct. It is advantageous to select the nodes such that the transformation matrix between the modal representation \hat{u}_n and the nodal representation $u(x_i)$ is well conditioned. It can be shown, see e.g. [48], that the Legendre-Gauss-Lobatto (LGL) points, defined as the *N* zeros of the equation

$$(1-x^2)P'_N(x) = 0,$$
 (A.8)

amount to an optimal choice.

B Method of characteristics

In this appendix, we present the analytic solution of Equation (25). The PDE is a scalar quasilinear partial differential equation in conservative form, therefore an implicit solution can be obtained using the method of characteristics [93]. The equation in conservative form is

$$\partial_t u(t,\rho) + \partial_\rho \left(A_d \frac{(\Lambda e^{-t})^{d+2}}{(\Lambda e^{-t})^2 + u(t,\rho)} \right) = 0,$$
(B.1)

and can be express in a quasilinear form performing the derivative on the flux,

$$\partial_t u(t,\rho) - A_d \frac{(\Lambda e^{-t})^{d+2}}{\left[(\Lambda e^{-t})^2 + u(t,\rho)\right]^2} \partial_\rho u(t,\rho) = 0,$$
(B.2)

combined with the initial condition

$$u(0,\rho) = u_0(\rho).$$
 (B.3)

The solution can be found by introducing the characteristic curves that are the solution of

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}t(s)}{\mathrm{d}s} = 1,$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\rho(s)}{\mathrm{d}s} = -A_d \frac{(\Lambda e^{-t(s)})^{d+2}}{\left[(\Lambda e^{-t(s)})^2 + u(s)\right]^2},$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}u(s)}{\mathrm{d}s} = 0,$$
(B.4)

combined with the initial conditions

$$t(0) = 0,$$

 $\rho(0) = \rho_0,$ (B.5)
 $u(0) = u_0(\rho_0).$

This system of ordinary differential equation is equivalent to the original partial differential equation (B.2) if we define

$$u(s) = u(t(s), \rho(s)).$$
 (B.6)

The system (B.4) can easily be integrated, noting that u(s) is constant along the characteristic and t(s) is the curve parameter. The result can be written as

$$u(s) = u_0(\rho_0)$$
, and $t(s) = s = t$, (B.7)

and

$$\rho(t) = \rho_0 - A_d \int_0^t \frac{(\Lambda e^{-s})^{d+2}}{\left[(\Lambda e^{-s})^2 + u_0(\rho_0)\right]^2} \mathrm{d}s \,. \tag{B.8}$$

The integral can be carried out, leading to

$$\rho(t) = \rho_0 - \frac{A_d \Lambda^d}{2} \left[\frac{e^{-dt}}{u_0(\rho_0) + (\Lambda e^{-t})^2} - \frac{1}{u_0(\rho_0) + \Lambda^2} - \frac{d(\Lambda e^{-t})^{d-2}}{(d-2)\Lambda^d} {}_2F_1\left(1, \frac{2-d}{2}, \frac{4-d}{2}, -\frac{u_0(\rho_0)}{(\Lambda e^{-t})^2}\right) + \frac{d\Lambda^{-2}}{d-2} F_1\left(1, \frac{2-d}{2}, \frac{4-d}{2}, -\frac{u_0(\rho_0)}{\Lambda^2}\right) \right],$$
(B.9)

where ${}_{2}F_{1}$ is the Gaussian or ordinary hypergeometric function, see e.g. [94]. The equation (B.9) is a transcendental equation between ρ_{0} , the position at the initial RG-time where *u* has the value $u_{0}(\rho_{0})$ and ρ , which is the position at RG-time *t* where *u* has the same value. Formally this can now be inverted, obtaining

$$\rho_0 = \rho_0(t, \rho), \tag{B.10}$$

giving the initial position of the value $u_{\Lambda}(\rho_{\Lambda})$ as a function of the final one $\rho(t)$. The solution can be constructed using this inverse function as

$$u(t,\rho) = u_0(\rho_0(t,\rho)).$$
 (B.11)

Practically, except for very simple cases, the solution of the transcendental equation (B.9) cannot be achieved analytically. Therefore, the inversion is performed numerically.

The equation (B.9) can be used to find a simple expression for the RG-time evolution of the minima of the potential, indeed if one use that $u_0(\rho_0) = 0$ and hence ${}_2F_1 = 1$, we obtain

$$\rho_{\min}(t) = \rho_{\min}(0) - \frac{A_d \Lambda^{d-2}}{d-2} \left[1 - e^{-(d-2)t} \right].$$
(B.12)

C Shock propagation and detection

C.1 Position of the shock

Consider an interval $[\rho_L, \rho_R]$ that contains the position of the discontinuity at a given RG-time t, namely $\rho_L \leq \xi(t) \leq \rho_R$. Additionally, the interval must be chosen small enough that it only contains a single discontinuity. If this is not the case, it can always be split into multiple intervals. The integral in ρ – space of our equation of interest (25) on this interval is

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int_{\rho_{\mathrm{L}}}^{\rho_{\mathrm{R}}} \mathrm{d}\rho \ u(\rho, t) - \int_{\rho_{\mathrm{L}}}^{\rho_{\mathrm{R}}} \mathrm{d}\rho \ \partial_{\rho} f(t, u(\rho)) = 0.$$
(C.1)

Splitting the integral around the discontinuity results in

$$\frac{d}{dt} \int_{\rho_{\rm L}}^{\xi(t)} d\rho \, u(\rho, t) + \frac{d}{dt} \int_{\xi(t)}^{\rho_{\rm R}} d\rho \, u(\rho, t) = f(t, u(t, \rho_{\rm R})) - f(t, u(t, \rho_{\rm L})).$$
(C.2)

The RG-time derivative can be done explicitly and leads to

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\xi(t)}{\mathrm{d}t}(u(\rho_{\mathrm{R}},t)-u(\rho_{\mathrm{L}},t))-f(t,u(t,\rho_{\mathrm{R}}))+f(t,u(t,\rho_{\mathrm{L}}))$$
$$=-\int_{\xi(t)}^{\rho_{\mathrm{R}}}\mathrm{d}\rho \ \partial_{t}u(\rho,t)-\int_{\rho_{\mathrm{L}}}^{\xi(t)}\mathrm{d}\rho \ \partial_{t}u(\rho,t). \tag{C.3}$$

In the limit $\rho_L \to \xi^-(t)$ and $\rho_R \to \xi^+(t)$ the right-hand side vanishes, and we obtain the equation

$$\frac{d\xi(t)}{dt}(u_{\rm R}(t) - u_{\rm L}(t)) - f_{\rm R}(t) + f_{\rm L}(t) = 0, \qquad (C.4)$$

Sci Post

where we have used the definitions

$$u_{\rm R}(t) = \lim_{\rho \to \xi^+(t)} u(\rho, t),$$

$$f_{\rm R}(t) = \lim_{\rho \to \xi^+(t)} f(t, u(\rho, t)),$$

$$u_{\rm L}(t) = \lim_{\rho \to \xi^-(t)} u(\rho, t),$$

$$f_{\rm L}(t) = \lim_{\rho \to \xi^-(t)} f(t, u(\rho, t)).$$

(C.5)

The equation for the position of the discontinuity is described by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\xi(t)}{\mathrm{d}t} = \frac{f_{\mathrm{R}}(t) - f_{\mathrm{L}}(t)}{u_{\mathrm{R}}(t) - u_{\mathrm{L}}(t)} = \frac{\llbracket f \rrbracket}{\llbracket u \rrbracket},\tag{C.6}$$

which can be integrated to obtain the RG-time evolution of the shock.

C.2 Shock detection

To determine the position of the jump discontinuities in our numerical approximation $u_h(t, \rho)$ we follow the procedure outlined in [95, 96], i.e. the method of concentration.

We briefly summarize here how this procedure is practically applied. While shock capturing schemes are very interesting by itself and are a promising future direction, we restrict ourselves here to the extraction of the position of discontinuities during post-processing. Discontinuities, i.e. their position and height can be extracted by folding the function f(x), which is assumed to be piecewise continuous, with a suitable concentration kernel, which acts as

$$K_{\varepsilon} * f(x) = \llbracket f \rrbracket(x) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon). \tag{C.7}$$

To define the concentration kernel from a numerical point of view, we have to understand how a discontinuous function is expanded in our basis. Consider the expansion of a piecewise smooth function f(x) in terms of Jacobi polynomials,

$$f(x) \simeq \sum_{k=0}^{N} \hat{f}_k P_k(x), \quad \text{with} \quad \hat{f}_k = \int_{-1}^{1} \mathrm{d}x \,\omega(x) f(x) P_k(x).$$
 (C.8)

Utilizing the Sturm-Liouville equation (A.1), assuming that the function f has a jump [[f]](c) for x = c, it is possible to obtain an estimation for the decay of the spectrum \hat{f}_k with k,

$$\hat{f}_{k} = \frac{-1}{\lambda_{k}} \int_{-1}^{1} dx \left[(1 - x^{2})\omega(x)P_{k}'(x) \right]' f(x) = [[f]](c) \frac{1}{\lambda_{k}} (1 - c^{2})\omega(c)P_{k}'(x) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\lambda_{k}}\right).$$
(C.9)

This equation expresses the fact that next to a jump the coefficients of the mode expansion decays like $\frac{1}{\lambda_k}$, which is substantially slower than far away from a jump. In (C.9) λ_k refers to the eigenvalue of the associated Sturm-Liouville equation, c.f. (A.1). Motivated by this characteristic property of the spectrum of a particular polynomial expansion, it is possible to define a quantity that detects the discontinuity from the mode expansion of the function. The concentration kernel for Legendre polynomial was obtained in [95] and is defined as

$$K_{N}^{\sigma} * f = \sqrt{2} \frac{\pi}{N} \sqrt{1 - x^{2}} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \sigma\left(\frac{|k|}{N}\right) \hat{f}_{k} \psi_{k}'(x), \qquad (C.10)$$

where $\sigma(\xi)$ is an adequate concentration factor. There are different possibility for this function and an extensive discussion can be found in [95]; for our implementation we have made the simple choice of $\sigma(\xi) = 1$. In the vicinity of the discontinuity, and away from it, this kernel behaves as

$$K_N^{\sigma} * f = \begin{cases} \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{N}), & x \neq c, \\ [[f]](c) + \text{const.} \frac{\log N}{N}, & x = c. \end{cases}$$
(C.11)

Consequently, it is possible to pinpoint the discontinuity, when examining the scaling of this operator with the number of nodes. However, is more convenient to enhance the separation of scale between the smooth part and the discontinuity, namely

$$N^{\frac{p}{2}}(K_{N}^{\sigma}*f)^{p} = \begin{cases} \mathcal{O}\left(N^{-\frac{p}{2}}\right), & x \neq c, \\ [[f]](c)N^{\frac{p}{2}}, & x = c, \end{cases}$$
(C.12)

where p is the enhancement exponent. Using this operator, it is possible to construct an operator that is non-vanishing only in the presence of the jump,

$$K_{N,J}^{p} * f = \begin{cases} K_{N} * f, & \text{if } \left| N^{\frac{p}{2}} (K_{N}^{\sigma} * f)^{p} \right| > J, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(C.13)

where *J* is an appropriately chosen threshold. This additional definition becomes very important for smaller values of *N* if we want to achieve a good separation of scales between shocks and smooth parts of the solution. In our implementation, we have chosen the heuristic values p = 2 and $J = 5.0 \times 10^{-8}$. With this set of parameters, we were able to detect the discontinuities in Section 3.3 efficiently.

References

- [1] C. Wetterich, *Exact evolution equation for the effective potential*, Phys. Lett. B **301**, 90 (1993), doi:10.1016/0370-2693(93)90726-X.
- [2] U. Ellwanger, *Flow equations for N point functions and bound states*, Z. Phys. C Part. Fields **62**, 503 (1994), doi:10.1007/BF01555911.
- [3] T. R. Morris, *The exact renormalization group and approximate solutions*, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 09, 2411 (1994), doi:10.1142/S0217751X94000972.
- [4] W. H. Reed and T. Hill, *Triangular mesh methods for the neutron transport equation*, Tech. Rep. LA-UR-73-479, Los Alamos Scientific Lab, Santa Fe, USA (1973).
- [5] C. Johnson and J. Pitkäranta, *An analysis of the discontinuous Galerkin method for a scalar hyperbolic equation*, Math. Comput. **46**, 1 (1986), doi:10.2307/2008211.
- [6] T. E. Peterson, *A note on the convergence of the discontinuous Galerkin method for a scalar hyperbolic equation*, SIAM J. Numer. Anal. **28**, 133 (1991), doi:10.1137/0728006.
- [7] Q. Lin and A. Zhou, Convergence of the discontinuous Galerkin method for a scalar hyperbolic equation, Acta Math. Sci. 13, 207 (1993), doi:10.1016/S0252-9602(18)30208-X.
- [8] B. Cockburn and J. Guzmán, Error estimates for the Runge–Kutta discontinuous Galerkin method for the transport equation with discontinuous initial data, SIAM J. Numer. Anal. 46, 1364 (2008), doi:10.1137/060668936.

- [9] J. Berges, N. Tetradis and C. Wetterich, Non-perturbative renormalization flow in quantum field theory and statistical physics, Phys. Rep. 363, 223 (2002), doi:10.1016/S0370-1573(01)00098-9.
- [10] J. M. Pawlowski, Aspects of the functional renormalisation group, Ann. Phys. 322, 2831 (2007), doi:10.1016/j.aop.2007.01.007.
- [11] P. Kopietz, L. Bartosch and F. Schütz, *Introduction to the functional renormalization group*, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, Germany, ISBN 9783642050930 (2010), doi:10.1007/978-3-642-05094-7.
- [12] J. Braun, M. Leonhardt and J. M. Pawlowski, *Renormalization group consistency and low-energy effective theories*, SciPost Phys. 6, 056 (2019), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.6.5.056.
- [13] J. Adams, N. Tetradis, J. Berges, F. Freire, C. Wetterich and S. Bornholdt, Solving nonperturbative flow equations, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 10, 2367 (1995), doi:10.1142/S0217732395002520.
- [14] G. Papp, B.-J. Schaefer, H.-J. Pirner and J. Wambach, Convergence of the expansion of the renormalization group flow equation, Phys. Rev. D 61, 096002 (2000), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.61.096002.
- [15] M. Bluhm, Y. Jiang, M. Nahrgang, J. M. Pawlowski, F. Rennecke and N. Wink, *Time-evolution of fluctuations as signal of the phase transition dynamics in a QCD-assisted transport approach*, Nucl. Phys. A **982**, 871 (2019), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2018.09.058.
- [16] O. Bohr, B.-J. Schaefer and J. Wambach, *Renormalization group flow equations and the phase transition in O(N)-models*, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 16, 3823 (2001), doi:10.1142/S0217751X0100502X.
- [17] B.-J. Schaefer and J. Wambach, *The phase diagram of the quark-meson model*, Nucl. Phys. A **757**, 479 (2005), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2005.04.012.
- [18] T. Yokota, T. Kunihiro and K. Morita, Functional renormalization group analysis of the soft mode at the QCD critical point, Prog. Theor. Exp. Phys. 073D01 (2016), doi:10.1093/ptep/ptw062.
- [19] J. M. Pawlowski, M. Reichert, C. Wetterich and M. Yamada, *Higgs scalar po*tential in asymptotically safe quantum gravity, Phys. Rev. D 99, 086010 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.99.086010.
- [20] J.-M. Caillol, *The non-perturbative renormalization group in the ordered phase*, Nucl. Phys. B **855**, 854 (2012), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2011.10.026.
- [21] F. Rennecke, Vacuum structure of vector mesons in QCD, Phys. Rev. D 92, 076012 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.92.076012.
- [22] G. A. Almási, B. Friman and K. Redlich, Baryon number fluctuations in chiral effective models and their phenomenological implications, Phys. Rev. D 96, 014027 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.96.014027.
- [23] J. M. Pawlowski, N. Strodthoff and N. Wink, *Finite temperature spectral functions in the O(N) model*, Phys. Rev. D 98, 074008 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.98.074008.
- [24] M. Reichert, A. Eichhorn, H. Gies, J. M. Pawlowski, T. Plehn and M. M. Scherer, Probing baryogenesis through the Higgs boson self-coupling, Phys. Rev. D 97, 075008 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.97.075008.

- [25] R. Alkofer, A. Maas, W. A. Mian, M. Mitter, J. París-López, J. M. Pawlowski and N. Wink, Bound state properties from the functional renormalization group, Phys. Rev. D 99, 054029 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.99.054029.
- [26] R.-A. Tripolt, N. Strodthoff, L. von Smekal and J. Wambach, Spectral functions for the quark-meson model phase diagram from the functional renormalization group, Phys. Rev. D 89, 034010 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.89.034010.
- [27] J. Borchardt and B. Knorr, *Global solutions of functional fixed point equations via pseudospectral methods*, Phys. Rev. D **91**, 105011 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.91.105011.
- [28] J. Borchardt and B. Knorr, *Solving functional flow equations with pseudospectral methods*, Phys. Rev. D **94**, 025027 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.94.025027.
- [29] J. Borchardt, H. Gies and R. Sondenheimer, Global flow of the Higgs potential in a Yukawa model, Eur. Phys. J. C 76, 472 (2016), doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-016-4300-9.
- [30] F. Rennecke and B.-J. Schaefer, Fluctuation-induced modifications of the phase structure in (2+1)-flavor QCD, Phys. Rev. D 96, 016009 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.96.016009.
- [31] S. Resch, F. Rennecke and B.-J. Schaefer, Mass sensitivity of the three-flavor chiral phase transition, Phys. Rev. D 99, 076005 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.99.076005.
- [32] W.-j. Fu, J. M. Pawlowski and F. Rennecke, Strangeness neutrality and QCD thermodynamics, SciPost Phys. Core 2, 002 (2020), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhysCore.2.1.002.
- [33] U. Ellwanger, M. Hirsch and A. Weber, Flow equations for the relevant part of the pure Yang–Mills action, Z. Phys. C Part. Fields 69, 687 (1996), doi:10.1007/s002880050073.
- [34] B. Bergerhoff and C. Wetterich, *Effective quark interactions and QCD propagators*, Phys. Rev. D 57, 1591 (1998), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.57.1591.
- [35] C. Husemann and M. Salmhofer, *Efficient parametrization of the vertex function*, Ω *scheme, and the t,t' Hubbard model at van Hove filling*, Phys. Rev. B **79**, 195125 (2009), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.79.195125.
- [36] J. M. Pawlowski, D. F. Litim, S. Nedelko and L. von Smekal, Infrared behavior and fixed points in Landau-gauge QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 93, 152002 (2004), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.93.152002.
- [37] J.-P. Blaizot, R. Méndez-Galain and N. Wschebor, A new method to solve the non-perturbative renormalization group equations, Phys. Lett. B 632, 571 (2006), doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2005.10.086.
- [38] J.-P. Blaizot, R. Méndez-Galain and N. Wschebor, Nonperturbative renormalization group and momentum dependence of n-point functions. I, Phys. Rev. E 74, 051116 (2006), doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.74.051116.
- [39] J.-P. Blaizot, R. Méndez-Galain and N. Wschebor, Nonperturbative renormalization group and momentum dependence of n-point functions. II, Phys. Rev. E 74, 051117 (2006), doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.74.051117.
- [40] F. Benitez, J.-P. Blaizot, H. Chaté, B. Delamotte, R. Méndez-Galain and N. Wschebor, Nonperturbative renormalization group preserving full-momentum dependence: Implementation and quantitative evaluation, Phys. Rev. E 85, 026707 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.85.026707.

- [41] M. Mitter, J. M. Pawlowski and N. Strodthoff, *Chiral symmetry breaking in continuum QCD*, Phys. Rev. D 91, 054035 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.91.054035.
- [42] N. Christiansen, B. Knorr, J. Meibohm, J. M. Pawlowski and M. Reichert, *Local quantum gravity*, Phys. Rev. D 92, 121501 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.92.121501.
- [43] A. K. Cyrol, L. Fister, M. Mitter, J. M. Pawlowski and N. Strodthoff, Landau gauge Yang-Mills correlation functions, Phys. Rev. D 94, 054005 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.94.054005.
- [44] A. K. Cyrol, M. Mitter, J. M. Pawlowski and N. Strodthoff, Nonperturbative quark, gluon, and meson correlators of unquenched QCD, Phys. Rev. D 97, 054006 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.97.054006.
- [45] A. K. Cyrol, M. Mitter, J. M. Pawlowski and N. Strodthoff, Nonperturbative finite-temperature Yang-Mills theory, Phys. Rev. D 97, 054015 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.97.054015.
- [46] T. Denz, J. M. Pawlowski and M. Reichert, *Towards apparent convergence in asymptotically safe quantum gravity*, Eur. Phys. J. C 78, 336 (2018), doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-018-5806-0.
- [47] L. Corell, A. K. Cyrol, M. Mitter, J. M. Pawlowski and N. Strodthoff, *Correlation func*tions of three-dimensional Yang-Mills theory from the FRG, SciPost Phys. 5, 066 (2018), doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.5.6.066.
- [48] J. S. Hesthaven and T. Warburton, Nodal discontinuous Galerkin methods: Algorithms, analysis, and applications, Springer, New York, USA, ISBN 9780387720654 (2007), doi:10.1007/978-0-387-72067-8.
- [49] O. C. Zienkiewicz, R. L. Taylor, P. Nithiarasu and J. Zhu, *The finite element method*, McGraw-Hill, London, UK (1977).
- [50] R. J. LeVeque, *Finite volume methods for hyperbolic problems*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, ISBN 9780511791253 (2002), doi:10.1017/CBO9780511791253.
- [51] L. Rezzolla and O. Zanotti, *Relativistic hydrodynamics*, Oxford University Press, Oxford UK, ISBN 9780511791253 (2013), doi:10.1017/CBO9780511791253.
- [52] P. D. Lax, Weak solutions of nonlinear hyperbolic equations and their numerical computation, Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 7, 159 (1954), doi:10.1002/cpa.3160070112.
- [53] M. D'Attanasio and T. R. Morris, *Large N and the renormalization group*, Phys. Lett. B 409, 363 (1997), doi:10.1016/S0370-2693(97)00866-6.
- [54] D. F. Litim, Optimized renormalization group flows, Phys. Rev. D 64, 105007 (2001), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.64.105007.
- [55] N. Tetradis and D. F. Litim, Analytical solutions of exact renormalization group equations, Nucl. Phys. B 464, 492 (1996), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(95)00642-7.
- [56] D. Litim and N. Tetradis, Approximate solutions of exact renormalization group equations, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.hep-th/9501042.
- [57] D. F. Litim, Critical exponents from optimised renormalisation group flows, Nucl. Phys. B 631, 128 (2002), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(02)00186-4.

- [58] K.-I. Aoki, S.-I. Kumamoto and M. Yamada, Phase structure of NJL model with weak renormalization group, Nucl. Phys. B 931, 105 (2018), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2018.04.005.
- [59] A. C. Hindmarsh, P. N. Brown, K. E. Grant, S. L. Lee, R. Serban, D. E. Shumaker and C. S. Woodward, *SUNDIALS: Suite of nonlinear and differential/algebraic equation solvers*, ACM Trans. Math. Softw. **31**, 363 (2005), doi:10.1145/1089014.1089020.
- [60] Wolfram Research, Inc., Mathematica, Version 11.3, Champaign, USA (2018).
- [61] C.-W. Shu and S. Osher, Efficient implementation of essentially non-oscillatory shock-capturing schemes, J. Comput. Phys. 77, 439 (1988), doi:10.1016/0021-9991(88)90177-5.
- [62] L. Del Zanna, O. Zanotti, N. Bucciantini and P. Londrillo, ECHO: A Eulerian conservative high-order scheme for general relativistic magnetohydrodynamics and magnetodynamics, Astron. Astrophys. 473, 11 (2007), doi:10.1051/0004-6361:20077093.
- [63] L. Del Zanna, V. Chandra, G. Inghirami, V. Rolando, A. Beraudo, A. De Pace, G. Pagliara, A. Drago and F. Becattini, *Relativistic viscous hydrodynamics for heavy-ion collisions with ECHO-QGP*, Eur. Phys. J. C 73, 2524 (2013), doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-013-2524-5.
- [64] S. Floerchinger and E. Grossi, *Causality of fluid dynamics for high-energy nuclear collisions*, J. High Energy Phys. 08, 186 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP08(2018)186.
- [65] S. Floerchinger, E. Grossi and J. Lion, Fluid dynamics of heavy ion collisions with mode expansion, Phys. Rev. C 100, 014905 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevC.100.014905.
- [66] F. Fambri, M. Dumbser, S. Köppel, L. Rezzolla and O. Zanotti, ADER discontinuous Galerkin schemes for general-relativistic ideal magnetohydrodynamics, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 477, 4543 (2018), doi:10.1093/mnras/sty734.
- [67] W. Bangerth, R. Hartmann and G. Kanschat, deal.II A general purpose object oriented finite element library, ACM Trans. Math. Softw. 33, 24 (2007), doi:10.1145/1268776.1268779.
- [68] M. Blatt et al., The distributed and unified numerics environment, version 2.4, Arch. Numer. Softw. 4, 13 (2016), doi:10.11588/ans.2016.100.26526.
- [69] S. Müthing, M. Piatkowski and P. Bastian, High-performance implementation of matrix-free high-order discontinuous Galerkin methods, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.1711.10885.
- [70] E. Tadmor, Filters, mollifiers and the computation of the Gibbs phenomenon, Acta Numer.
 16, 305 (2007), doi:10.1017/S0962492906320016.
- [71] A. Bonanno and G. Lacagnina, *Spontaneous symmetry breaking and proper-time flow equations*, Nucl. Phys. B **693**, 36 (2004), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2004.06.003.
- [72] D. F. Litim, J. M. Pawlowski and L. Vergara, *Convexity of the effective action from functional flows*, (arXiv preprint) doi:10.48550/arXiv.hep-th/0602140.
- [73] M. Peláez and N. Wschebor, Ordered phase of the O(N) model within the nonperturbative renormalization group, Phys. Rev. E 94, 042136 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.94.042136.
- [74] C. S. Fischer and H. Gies, *Renormalization flow of Yang-Mills propagators*, J. High Energy Phys. 10, 048 (2004), doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2004/10/048.

- [75] L. Fister, On the phase diagram of QCD with dynamical quarks, PhD thesis, Universität Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany (2012).
- [76] S. Bornholdt, N. Tetradis and C. Wetterich, *Coleman-Weinberg phase transition in two-scalar models*, Phys. Lett. B **348**, 89 (1995), doi:10.1016/0370-2693(95)00045-M.
- [77] S. Bornholdt, N. Tetradis and C. Wetterich, *High temperature phase transition in two-scalar theories*, Phys. Rev. D 53, 4552 (1996), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.53.4552.
- [78] J. Berges and C. Wetterich, Equation of state and coarse grained free energy for matrix models, Nucl. Phys. B 487, 675 (1997), doi:10.1016/S0550-3213(96)00670-0.
- [79] J. Berges, N. Tetradis and C. Wetterich, *Coarse graining and first order phase transitions*, Phys. Lett. B **393**, 387 (1997), doi:10.1016/S0370-2693(96)01654-1.
- [80] N. Tetradis, *The exact renormalization group and first-order phase transitions*, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A **16**, 1927 (2001), doi:10.1142/S0217751X01004578.
- [81] X. Zhong and C.-W. Shu, A simple weighted essentially nonoscillatory limiter for Runge-Kutta discontinuous Galerkin methods, J. Comput. Phys. 232, 397 (2013), doi:10.1016/j.jcp.2012.08.028.
- [82] A. Jüttner, D. F. Litim and E. Marchais, *Global Wilson-Fisher fixed points*, Nucl. Phys. B 921, 769 (2017), doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2017.06.010.
- [83] D. F. Litim, E. Marchais and P. Mati, Fixed points and the spontaneous breaking of scale invariance, Phys. Rev. D 95, 125006 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.95.125006.
- [84] S. Yabunaka and B. Delamotte, Why might the standard large n analysis fail in the O(N) model: The role of cusps in fixed point potentials, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121, 231601 (2018), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.121.231601.
- [85] B. Cockburn and C.-W. Shu, The local discontinuous Galerkin method for timedependent convection-diffusion systems, SIAM J. Numer. Anal. 35, 2440 (1998), doi:10.1137/S0036142997316712.
- [86] D. N. Arnold, F. Brezzi, B. Cockburn and L. D. Marini, Unified analysis of discontinuous Galerkin methods for elliptic problems, SIAM J. Numer. Anal. 39, 1749 (2002), doi:10.1137/S0036142901384162.
- [87] S. Brdar, A. Dedner and R. Klöfkorn, Compact and stable discontinuous Galerkin methods for convection-diffusion problems, SIAM J. Sci. Comput. 34, A263 (2012), doi:10.1137/100817528.
- [88] J. M. Pawlowski and F. Rennecke, Higher order quark-mesonic scattering processes and the phase structure of QCD, Phys. Rev. D 90, 076002 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.90.076002.
- [89] J. Braun, L. Fister, J. M. Pawlowski and F. Rennecke, From quarks and gluons to hadrons: Chiral symmetry breaking in dynamical QCD, Phys. Rev. D 94, 034016 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.94.034016.
- [90] G. P. Vacca and L. Zambelli, Multimeson Yukawa interactions at criticality, Phys. Rev. D 91, 125003 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.91.125003.
- [91] B. Knorr, Ising and Gross-Neveu model in next-to-leading order, Phys. Rev. B 94, 245102 (2016), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.94.245102.

- [92] H. Gies, R. Sondenheimer and M. Warschinke, *Impact of generalized Yukawa interactions* on the lower Higgs-mass bound, Eur. Phys. J. C **77**, 743 (2017), doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-017-5312-9.
- [93] R. Courant and D. Hilbert, *Methods of mathematical physics, vol 2*, Interscience Publishers, New York, USA, ISBN 9780470179857 (1962).
- [94] C. F. Gauss, Disquisitiones generales circa seriem infinitam $1 + \alpha\beta/\gamma x + \cdots$, in Gesammelte Werke, Teubner, Leipzig, Germany (1812).
- [95] A. Gelb and E. Tadmor, *Detection of edges in spectral data II. Nonlinear enhancement*, SIAM J. Numer. Anal. **38**, 1389 (2000), doi:10.1137/S0036142999359153.
- [96] A. Sheshadri and A. Jameson, Shock detection and capturing methods for high order discontinuous-Galerkin finite element methods, in 32nd AIAA applied aerodynamics conference, Atlanta, USA (2014), doi:10.2514/6.2014-2688.